
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MPC MEETING 
 

WEDNESDAY DECEMBER 18, 2019 
 
 12:30 P.M. 

 
 

TOWN HALL  
BASEMENT MEETING ROOM 



TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

  WEDNESDAY DECEMBER 18, 2019 – 12:30 PM 

AGENDA 
Pg.	 Agenda Item 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

 
3. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

4 A) Minutes of November 20, 2019 meeting  

 
4. REPORTS TO MPC 

 
7 

A) Dates Development Permits advertised in Commentator 

a. December 3, 2019 (Ad attached)  

 B) Development Permit Applications Approved/Denied by 
Development Officer since the last MPC meeting: 

a. Development Permit Application 19-DP-078 
Pritchard & Co. 
Lots 10-12, Block 71, Plan 6022AW (13 Broadway Avenue W) 
Approved: Permit to Stay  

b. Development Permit Application 19-DP-079 
Erb Construction 
Lot 3, Block D, Plan 0112623 (1901 Dirkson Drive NE) 
Approved: Accessory Building 

c. Development Permit Application 19-DP-080 
Over the Top Painting Inc.  
Lot 27, Block C, Plan 9611511 (637 6 Street SE) 
Approved: Home Occupation – General Contracting 

d. Development Permit Application 19-DP-081 
Carter Law Office 
Lots 1-3, Block 1, Plan 3042AV (535 5 Street SE) 
Approved: Permit to Stay 

e. Development Permit Application 19-DP-082 
William Haynes 
Lot 38, Block 5, Plan 0012006 (937 3 Street SW) 
Approved: Permit to Stay 

 

1



TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

  WEDNESDAY DECEMBER 18, 2019 – 12:30 PM 

AGENDA 
Pg.	 Agenda Item 

f. Development Permit Application 19-DP-083 
BWB Hobbies 
Unit 7, Plan 0612896 (#4 124 3 Street NE) 
Approved: Home Occupation – Office Use Only 

	 C) Appeals of Development Decisions received since the last MPC 
meeting 

a. No Appeals of Development decisions have been received. 

	 D) SDAB Decisions rendered since the last MPC meeting 

a. No SDAB Decisions have been rendered since the last MPC 
meeting.  

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

E) Council Decisions and Direction related to the Land Use Bylaw 
since the last MPC meeting 

a. Land Use Bylaw Amendment - Passed 
Lot 4, Block 85, Plan 755AD (205 Broadway Avenue E) 
Land Use Bylaw Amendment to include property in the Cannabis 
Retail Store Overlay Map  

b. Land Use Bylaw Amendment given – 1st Reading 
Lots 25-38, Block 32, Plan 1117V (334 2 Street SW) 
Land Use Bylaw Amendment to change H – Horticultural District 
to R1 -Single Family Residential District  

F) Items Received for Information 

a. No items received for information have been received. 

	
	
8 

5. DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION FOR MPC DECISION 

A) Development Permit Application 19-DP-084  
2215551 Alberta Ltd. 
Lot 4, Block 85, Plan 755AD (205 Broadway Avenue E) 
Cannabis Retail Store 

a. Application 

b. Background Report 

c. Procedure 

2



TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

  WEDNESDAY DECEMBER 18, 2019 – 12:30 PM 

AGENDA 
Pg.	 Agenda Item 

i. Presentation of Development Officer 

ii. Presentation of Applicant 

iii. Presentation of Interested Parties 

iv. MPC Discussion (Note, MPC may go in camera for 
discussion) 

v. Decision of MPC 

 

	
6. ADJOURNMENT 

 

3



MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION 
WEDNESDAY NOVEMBER 20, 2019 – 12:30 PM 

TOWN OF REDCLIFF 

PRESENT: Members:     B. Duncan, S. Gale, L. Leipert, 
J. Beach, J. Steinke, B. Vine 

    
   Development Officer    B. Stehr 
   Director of Planning & Engineering  J. Johansen 
   Technical Assistant/Recording Secretary R. Arabsky 
       
 ABSENT: Members:     N. Stebanuk 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

B. Duncan called the meeting to order at 12:32 p.m. 

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

L. Leipert moved that the agenda be adopted as presented. – Carried. 

3. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

A) S. Gale moved the minutes of the MPC meeting October 16, 2019 be adopted as 
presented. – Carried. 

B) J. Beach moved the minutes of the Special MPC meeting October 23, 2019 be 
adopted as presented. – Carried. 

4. REPORTS TO MPC 

J. Steinke moved to receive for information the following Reports to MPC for the MPC 
Meeting of November 20, 2019:  

A) Dates Development Permits advertised in Commentator 

a. October 15, 2019, October 22, 2019, and November 12, 2019 

B) Development Permit Applications approved/denied by Development Officer 
since the last MPC meeting: 

a. Development Permit Application 19-DP-069 
ROCC Lending & Services Ltd. 
Lots 37-39, Block 86, Plan 755AD (115 Broadway Avenue E) 
Approved: Change of Use – Financial Institution  

b. Development Permit Application 19-DP-070 
Peter Klassen 
Lot 14, Block B, Plan 9711474 (405 1 Street NW) 
Approved: Deck 

c. Development Permit Application 19-DP-072 
Bryce Farrell 
Lots 15-16, Block 10, Plan 3042AV (607 7 Street SE) 
Approved: Permit to Stay 

4



            
Municipal Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – November 20, 2019         Page   2 of 3 

d. Development Permit Application 19-DP-073 
Frank Sleeking 
Lots 23-24, Block 14, Plan 1117V (406 Main Street S) 
Approved: Driveway 

e. Development Permit Application 19-DP-074 
CertainTeed Insulation 
Lot 5, Block A, Plan 0211147(101 1 Street NE) 
Approved: Industrial Building 

f. Development Permit Application 19-DP-075 
William Haynes 
Lots 28-29, Block 17, Plan 3042AV (816 3 Street SE) 
Approved: Permit to Stay 

g. Development Permit Application 19-DP-076 
BL and Son Contracting Ltd. 
Lots 11-12, Block 54, Plan 1117V (101 1 Street SE) 
Approved: Accessory Building – Detached Garage 

h. Development Permit Application 19-DP-077 
Brad Hayward 
Lot 115, Block 1, Plan 0213235 (51 Riverview Drive SE) 
Approved: Accessory Building - Gazebo 

C) Appeals of Development Decisions received since the last MPC Meeting. 

a. No Appeals of Development decisions have been received. 

D) SDAB Decisions rendered since the last MPC Meeting. 

a. No SDAB Decisions have been rendered since the last MPC meeting. 

E) Council Decisions and Direction related to the Land Use Bylaw since the last 
MPC. 

a. No Decisions or Directions related to the Land Use Bylaw have been 
received 

F) Items Received for Information 

a. No items received for information have been received.  

- Carried. 

5. LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT APPLICATION FOR MPC COMMENT  

A) Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application  
Richard and Marian Bos 
Lots 25-38, Block 32, Plan 1117V (334 2 Street SW) 
H – Horticultural District to R1- Single Family Residential District 

L. Leipert moved that the following comments be submitted to Council regarding Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment Application for Lots 25- 38, Block 32, Plan 1117V (334 2 Street 
SW), H – Horticultural District to R1 – Single Family Residential District:  

1. MPC supports the application to change the land use zoning for Lots 25-
38, Block 32, Plan 1117V (334 2 Street SW) from H – Horticultural 
District to R1- Single Family Residential District 

- Defeated  

5



            
Municipal Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – November 20, 2019         Page   3 of 3 

B. Vine moved that the following comments be submitted to Council regarding Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment Application for Lots 25- 38, Block 32, Plan 1117V (334 2 Street 
SW), H – Horticultural District to R1 – Single Family Residential District:  

1. MPC supports the application to change the land use zoning for Lots 25-
38, Block 32, Plan 1117V (334 2 Street SW) from H – Horticultural 
District to R1- Single Family Residential District as it is consistent with 
the use proposed by the Municipal Development Plan, however MPC 
recommends that Council should consider the implications to property 
taxes, servicing, etc. resulting from the change in zoning. 

- Carried  

6. ADJOURNMENT 

J. Steinke moved adjournment of the meeting at 1:07 p.m. – Carried. 

      
   Chairman     

 
      
Recording Secretary  

   

6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISION 
 

Planning & Engineering Report 
 

 
December 12, 2019 
 
Development Permit Application:   19-DP-084 

Applicant:      2215551 Alberta Ltd. 

       C/o Keith Ahlm 
 
Owner:       2215551 Alberta Ltd. 

Property Address:     205 Broadway Avenue E. 

Legal Address:     Lot 4, Block 85, Plan 755AD 

Land Use: C-2 Downtown Commercial District  

Development Officer:     Brian Stehr 

 

1. BACKGROUND:           
 
Planning & Engineering has been in conversation with Keith Ahlm discussing the Town’s 
requirements regarding opening a Retail Cannabis store in the Town of Redcliff 
 
On October 21, 2019 2215551 Alberta Ltd. applied for a Land Use Bylaw Amendment to include 
that aforementioned property in the Cannabis Retail Store Overlay Map. The Land Use Bylaw 
amendment was forwarded to the Municipal Planning Commission for comment on October 23, 
2019.  
 
Bylaw 1891/2019, to include 205 Broadway Avenue E. in the Cannabis Retail Store Overlay 
Map, was passed by Council on December 9, 2019. 
 
After receiving approval for the location and survey from the Development Officer, 2215551 
Alberta Ltd. held an Open House on December 5, 2019 in accordance with Section 43 of the 
Town’s Land Use Bylaw. The results of the open house are attached. 
 
On December 11, 2019 2215551 Alberta Ltd. submitted a Development Permit Application for a 
Cannabis Retail Store at 205 Broadway Avenue E.  
 
2.   PLANNING & ENGINEERING COMMENTS        
 
The Land Use Bylaw defines a Cannabis Retail Store as: 

- Means development for the retail sale of recreational Cannabis and Cannabis 
Accessories, as authorized by the Alberta Gaming, Liquor, and Cannabis Act. This 
use does not include Cannabis Production and Distribution Facility, Medical 
Marijuana Dispensary, or Cannabis Lounge. 
 

Section 43 Cannabis Retail Store of the Town’s Land Use Bylaw states: 

26



(1) Legal Basis 

(a) Cannabis Retail Stores are regulated by the provincial government and 

must meet all requirements set out in the Gaming, Liquor and Cannabis 

Act and all subsequent regulations.  

(b) Cannabis Retail Store is a discretionary use, Municipal Planning 

Commission.  

(c) All Cannabis Retail Stores require a Development Permit.  

(2) Development Standards 

(a) A Cannabis Retail Store shall only be located in an area covered by the 

Cannabis Retail Store Overlay.  

(b) The Cannabis Retail Store Overlay was created with the following 

guidelines to include parcels that are:  

(i) located in I1 (Light Industrial), C3 (General Commercial), C2 

(Downtown Commercial), and C-HWY (Highway Commercial) 

Districts, 

(ii) located outside of the 100 metre setback from any parcel of land 

on which a Cannabis Retail Store is located to a boundary of the 

parcel of land of a:  

i. Provincial health care facility; 

ii. School; 

iii. School reserve or municipal and school reserve as 
designated in the Municipal Government Act; 

iv. Municipal recreation facility (including the youth centre, 
swimming pool, rec-tangle, and library);  

v. Payday loan centre or pawn shop; 

vi. Daycare or childcare facility; or 

vii. Public park used for recreational purposes; and  

(iii) Located in places that fit the context of the surrounding area. 

Several parcels that meet the requirements in (i) and (ii) above 

were not included in the overlay because they are lone 

commercial parcels in the middle of residential neighbourhoods.  

(c) A Cannabis Retail Store shall meet all applicable requirements of the 

respective District in which it is located. 

(d) A Cannabis Retail Store must be a stand-alone store and shall not 

operate accessory to, or in conjunction with any other use. 

27



(e) Development Permits for Cannabis Retail Stores are conditional subject 

to the Development Officer receiving a copy of the retail license issued by 

the Alberta Gaming, Liquor, and Cannabis Commission from the 

Applicant.  

(f) Parking for a Cannabis Retail Store shall be provided in accordance with 

the parking requirements for a Retail Store and the parking requirements 

for the District in which it is located. 

(g) Development Permit Applications for Cannabis Retail Stores require the 

Applicant to engage the public on the proposed development by: 

(i) Notifying adjacent property owners in writing; 

(ii) Hosting at least one public open house, on a weekday evening, 

for at least 2 hours, in a neutral public location in Redcliff;  

(iii) Advertising the open house in the local paper and on all Town 

social media outlets for at least 2 weeks prior to the open house; 

(iv) Offering a survey for open house attendees to provide feedback; 

and 

(v) Advertising the public is welcome to attend the MPC meeting in 

person where the decision on the Development Permit will be 

made, or make a written submission to the Development Officer  

(vi) proposed Cannabis Retail Store and the distances to any of the 

before a specified date. 

(h) The Applicant is required to receive approval of the open house location, 

advertising, and survey from the Development Officer prior to the 

advertising commencing. 

(3) Development Permit Application Requirements 

(a) Location plan showing the following located within 500 metres of the 

store: 

(i) Provincial health care facility; 

(ii) School; 

(iii) School reserve or municipal and school reserve as designated in 

the Municipal Government Act; 

(iv) Municipal recreation facility (including the youth centre, swimming 

pool, rec-tangle, and library);  

(v) Payday loan centre or pawn shop; 

(vi) Daycare or childcare facility; or 

(vii) Public park used for recreational purposes. 

(b) Detailed site plan containing all of the information required for the District, 

and the following additional information: 

28



(i) Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) 

measures;  

(ii) Storage areas for Cannabis; 

(iii) Shipping and receiving areas; 

(iv) Adjacent uses;  

(v) Location and design of signage; and  

(vi) Security measures 

(c) Waste management/disposal plan. 

(d) Elevation plans showing access and signage. 

(e) Completion of public engagement by providing to the Development 

Officer: 

(i) A list of the addresses of adjacent property owners;  

(ii) Copies of the notification letters sent to adjacent property owners; 

and 

(iii) A summary of open house survey results.  

(4) Criteria For Consideration 

(a) The Municipal Planning Commission must consider the following when 

reviewing an application for a Cannabis Retail Store:  

(i) The extent to which the applicant demonstrates conformity with 

provincial and municipal regulations to minimize potential adverse 

effects on the community (i.e. site safety and security measures); 

(ii) Whether any legitimate public concerns expressed during public 

consultation were addressed by the applicant; and  

(iii) The recommendations and comments from Planning and 

Engineering.  

(5) Administration and Enforcement  

(a) The use and Development Permit for a Cannabis Retail Store shall: 

(i) Expire at the end of 5 years; and 

(ii) Be reviewed by the Town four years after the issuance of the use 

and the Development Permit.   

(b) Where the Town finds that the conditions of the Development Permit have 

been met and the use is not causing undesirable impacts to the Town, the 

Town will automatically issue a new Development Permit 6 months in 

advance of the expiring permit for 5 years that expires on the anniversary 

date of the original permit. 

(c) Where the Town finds that the conditions of the Development Permit have 

not been met or that the use is causing undesirable impacts to the Town, 

29



the Town will issue a notice to the Applicant 6 months in advance of the 

expiring permit, that the Town will not be automatically renewing the use 

and Development permit. The notice to the applicant must include: 

(i) The reasons the permit is not being renewed, 

(ii) The date of the permit expiring, and 

(iii) That if the Applicant wishes to continue the use the Applicant must 

make a new Development Permit application. 

(d) If The Town fails to issue a Development Permit under clause (9)(b) or if 

the Town fails to issue a notification under clause (9)(c), the Town will 

automatically issue a new Development Permit for 5 years from when the 

Development Permit should have been issued that expires on the 

anniversary date of the original permit. 

(e) Development Permits will be cancelled if and when the retail license is no 

longer valid with the Alberta Gaming, Liquor, and Cannabis Commission. 

(6) Standard Conditions of Approval 

(a) Development Permits are conditional subject to the Development Officer 

receiving a copy of the retail license issued by the Alberta Gaming, 

Liquor, and Cannabis Commission from the applicant. 

(b) The use and Development Permit for a Cannabis Retail Store shall expire 

and require reapplication after 5 years to the day of approval. 

Development Officer Comments: 

The Town’s Land Use Bylaw parking tables for a Retail Store requires that the applicant provide 
1 parking stall for every 30 m² of floor space. This would require that the applicant provide 8 
parking stalls. In the Downtown Commercial District, the Town has historically allowed the 
parking spaces in front of a building to be counted as parking stalls. The submitted parking plan 
indicates that there are 3 on street parking stalls in front of the store.  
 
The prior use of the building was a retail store. A Cannabis Retail Store is required by the Land 
Use Bylaw to meet the parking requirements of a retail store. It is the opinion of the 
Development Officer that because the prior use was a retail store, a Cannabis Retail Store at 
this location meets the intent of the Land Use Bylaw.  
 
Planning & Engineering does not envision a parking challenge for the proposed development, in 
context of the greater downtown area. 
 
The proposed signage complies with the Sign Regulations Section 88 of the Town’s Land Use 
Bylaw. 
 
A visual inspection of the property and adjoining properties indicate that the area is currently 
made up of a mixture of retail, general commercial businesses, and residential properties. The 
properties to the southwest of the site are a mixture of multi-family and single family homes.  
  

30



 

3. RECOMMENDATION:          

 

Planning and Engineering Provides the following suggested motion: 

1. MPC member       moved that Development Permit 
Application 19-DP-084 for a Retail Cannabis Store be Approved as submitted with the 
following conditions: 

1. Any exterior lighting above what is currently in place shall comply with Section 
65 Lighting of the Town’s Land Use Bylaw; 

2. The Applicant shall apply and receive a Building Permit from the Town for all 
interior renovations; 

3. Development Officer to receive a copy of the retail license issued by the 
Alberta Gaming, Liquor, and Cannabis Commission; 

4. The Development Permit is valid for five (5) years; 

5. The Town will issue a permit in year four (4) if in the opinion of the 
Development Authority that the Retail Cannabis Store is not causing 
undesirable impacts on the Town; 

6. Where the Town finds that the conditions of the Development Permit have not 
been met or that the use is causing undesirable impacts to the Town, the Town 
will issue a notice to the Applicant six (6) months in advance of the expiring 
permit, that the Town will not be automatically renewing the use and 
Development Permit. The notice to the applicant must include: 

i. The reasons the permit is not being renewed,  

ii. The date of the permit expiring, and 

iii. That if the Applicant wishes to continue the use the Applicant must make 
a new Development Permit application. 

7. If the Town fails to issue a Development Permit or if the Town fails to issue a 
Notice, the Town will automatically issue a new Development Permit for five (5) 
years from when the Development Permit should have been issued. 

8. Development Permits, including use, will be cancelled if and when the retail 
license is no longer valid with the Alberta Gaming, Liquor, and Cannabis 
Commission. 

 

 

 

31




